# OIKEUSTIEDE

## JURISPRUDENTIA

XXXVI 2003

Toimitusneuvosto Pekka Vihervuori, puheenjohtaja Antti Jokela Matti Ilmari Niemi Pekka Timonen

*Toimittaja* Mika Hemmo

Tilausosoite
Suomalainen Lakimiesyhdistys
Kasarmikatu 23 A 17
00130 Helsinki
p. (09) 603 567, f. (09) 604 668
sly@lakimies.org
www.lakimies.org

© 2003 kirjoittajat ja Suomalainen Lakimiesyhdistys ISSN 0355-8215 ISBN 951-855-213-4 ISBN 978-951-855-735-0 (verkkokirja) Gummerus Kirjapaino Oy, Jyväskylä 2003

#### Timo Kaisanlahti

# EXTENDED LIABILITY AND EXTERNALIZATION OF RISK IN STOCK MARKET

### Contents

1.	INTRODUCTION	263
	1.1. Background	263
	1.1.1. Conventional Wisdom	263
	1.1.2. Challenge	265
	1.2. Aim and Structure of the Study	269
2.	WHAT DOES DIVERSIFICATION ACCOMPLISH?	270
3.	RISK OF JOINT FAILURE DUE TO EXTENDED	
	LIABILITY	272
	3.1. Numerical Example	274
	3.2. Extended Liability in Economic History	277
4.	OTHER ALTERNATIVES TO ENSURE SATISFACTION OF	
	TORT CLAIMS	279
	4.1. Requirement of Mandatory Insurance	280
	4.2. Superpriority of Tort Claims	284
5.	SUMMARY	287
ΒI	BLIOGRAPHY	288

# Extended Liability and Externalization of Risk in Stock Market\*

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1. Background

#### 1.1.1. Conventional wisdom

Limited liability prevails today: the most universal principle of company legislation – here in Finland as well as in other market economies – is that an owner risks of her total wealth only that amount she has invested in the shares of a particular company. Creditors of a firm cannot collect from shareholders' personal assets if their claims are not fulfilled. A company is responsible for paying damages and other debts only in the amount of assets it has; you cannot go after the owners for more than they have invested in the company.

In financial parlance owners bear only part of the wealth negative effects of an enterprise's activities.<sup>1</sup> By setting an upper cap on potential loss, limited liability is generally seen as a vehicle for promoting investments. Without this privilege investors would be unwilling to turn over funds to companies about which they had only partial information and control.<sup>2</sup> Investors, at least the individual ones, are risk-averse actors who prefer a certain prospect to a risky one even though the latter represents the very same monetary value as the certain alternative.<sup>3</sup> If the creditors and other claimants of a company were

<sup>\*</sup> For helpful discussions and comments on an earlier draft I wish to thank *Manne Airaksinen* and *Pekka Timonen*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Of the importance of limited liability in theoretical finance see generally Suvas 1994.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See e.g. Greenwald – Stiglitz 1992, p. 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Risk aversion means diminishing marginal utility for wealth: a risk averse person will get more "pain" from a euro lost than "pleasure" from a euro gained more, Weston – Copeland 1992, p. 359. In a similar manner Klein – Coffee 1996, p. 233: "A critical axiom of modern investment analysis is that in their major investment decisions the overwhelming majority of people are risk averse. One corollary is that investors will accepts volatility risk only if they are paid to do so."

allowed to break through the corporation veil, it would likely deter individuals from participating in enterprises as minority owners.

There are also other rationales for limited liability derived from investors' aversion towards risk. Customarily these are evaluated in a theoretical setting considering what would happen if a listed company, whose shares are traded in a public securities market, were not allowed to provide the protection of limited liability for its owners. The leading American proponents of economic analysis of company law, judge *Frank Easterbrook* and professor *Daniel Fischel*, identify several consequences from abolishing limited liability.<sup>4</sup>

First, the most self-evident outcome under an unlimited liability regime is that a typical investor would reduce the number of firms in her stock portfolio to minimise the risk of losing her whole wealth due to a claim against one of the companies. By diminishing the monitoring costs limited liability thus allows for a more efficient diversification. As portfolio diversification reduces the risk of investors, it provides them a possibility to bid more for a company's shares meaning that for certain amount of financing an enterprise needs to issues less shares than under unlimited liability. Thus the cost of capital for an enterprise is lowered as a by-product of diversification.

Second, considered from a slightly different angle, an accompanying benefit of limited liability is aiding management in making optimal decisions on investment. While the risk of owners to losses is limited to the amount they have in the shares, managers can invest, no matter of the risk, in any project with positive net present value. In other words, management of a company with limited liability is free to take up riskier ventures – holding out greater returns – than would be allowed by the owners under an unlimited liability environment.

Moreover, an unlimited liability would intensify the monitoring of managers. The acts of managers are watched over to a greater extent the more risk the investors have to bear. By extending the risk to investors, they will expend more resources on the controlling function. Costs of this activity, however, would not arise only from watching over the managers. When the liability is unlimited, the wealthiest shareholders would most likely to be the targets for claims. Consequently, under a regime of unlimited liability an investor is interested in the financial status of her fellow owners to evaluate her own potential liability due to a possible claim. The situation preferred is where all the investors have (about) the same wealth. To provide this, the current owners must have a control of new ones; investors with lesser means that the existing shareholders would not be accepted.<sup>5</sup>

Easterbrook – Fischel 1991, s. 41–44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For empirical evidence see *e.g.* Turner 2001 who studied trading in the shares of an Irish bank,

In other words, unlimited liability hinders efficient trading in stock markets. With limited liability the bundle of ownership rights and duties in a company are transformed into a homogenous commodity, *i.e.* a share, whose fair price can be established in continuous trading by market participants through demand and supply. Therefore, by allowing the free transfer of shares, a limitation on liability supports informational efficiency of markets. The more efficient the pricing process gets the lower the cost of capital is for firms. At the same time limited liability provides a powerful incentive for managers to act more efficiently. If individual owners have the option of disposing their shares in markets for a fair price, the incumbent management is under a threat that the new investors will replace them with another, a more efficient management team. This threat induces the managers to work hard in order to keep the share price up which in turn will raise the costs of a possible take-over and thus diminishing its probability.

#### 1.1.2. Challenge

The conventional wisdom of virtues of limited liability, however, has been challenged. Two American law scholars, *Henry Hansmann* and *Reiner Kraakman*, stood up 11 years ago proposing that shareholders should face unlimited liability towards tort creditors.<sup>6</sup> They argue that shareholder liability is a question of tort law rather than a matter of company legislation.

A company may be operated in such a way that renders it "judgement-proof", *i.e.* having only nominal assets available to pay the claims of tort victims.<sup>7</sup> Generally a non-disputed fact is also that limitations on shareholder liability – as any other restriction of liability – is likely to encourage accident prone, highrisk operations, most notably by lowering the threshold for a company to engage itself in a hazardous industry. While shareholders have to face the costs of possible tort claims only up to the value of their shares, the limitation of liability externalises these costs from their investment calculations. Since

The Ulster Banking Company, in the period October 1874 to December 1879. Pursuant to the section 18 of the Banking Copartnership Regulation Act of 1825, the shareholders were jointly liable for debts of the bank up to three years after they had disposed their stocks. Turner found that trading was illiquid because shares could only be sold to those with certain levels of wealth on approval of the stockowners' committee. Therefore, according to Turner (*ibid*, p. 24), "— unlimited liability hindered the working of the capital markets by increasing the costs of associated with trading."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Hansmann – Kraakman 1991.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Economist Steven Shavell introduced this concept in 1980s, see Shavell 1986.

externalisation is permitted by law, a company involved in hazardous activities may have a positive net value considered from shareholders' view point. Thus, such a company may be an attractive investment. This does not, however, necessarily mean that its operations are generally desirable. The net benefit to society as whole may negative due to externalisation, meaning that profits to shareholders from these activities are less than the loss of welfare due to potential accident costs.<sup>8</sup> From these observations Hansmann and Kraakman derive the claim that limited liability is socially dubious arrangement: "—— if a promoter can neither purchase insurance or recruit investors without it, the proposed venture may very well not be socially efficient in the first instance."

Several empirical studies have been carried out on this matter. For example, in a paper published in 1990 *Al Ringleb* and *Steven Wiggins* concluded that "— the incentive to evade liability has led to roughly a 20 percent increase in the number of small corporations in the U.S. economy." According to Ringleb and Wiggins large companies contracted out their hazardous processes to smaller, judgement-proof firms. On the other hand, *Richard Brooks* has found in his fresh study of oil industry that major companies have increased their own shipping capacity since 1990 when Oil Pollution Act was enacted; that statute toughened significantly oil spill liability, allowing even the cargo-owner to be reached in some US states. Therefore one can claim, as Brooks does, that the liability-shifting benefits of contracting out were overcome by the dramatic increase in the potential liability.<sup>11</sup>

On the other hand, these kinds of arguments have been countered by professor *James J. White* who claims that major companies face significant barriers to judgement proofing; contract and other voluntary creditors, according to White, force major companies to maintain substantial amount of equity capital on which tort creditors are able to free-ride (White 1998, p. 1394–1412). Critical comments against the judgement proof -argument ála LoPucki are provided also by Schwarcz 1999 and 1999a as well as by Mooney 1999. Evaluation of this debate, however, is outside of our scope. For the purposes of this article it is enough to note that Hansmann and Kraakman base their argumentation on the risk of possible judgement proofing of shareholders.

Particularly professor *Lynn LoPucki* has elaborated this argument further in a series of articles in late 1990s; see LoPucki 1996, 1998, 1998a and 1999). According to LoPucki American companies are getting more and more judgement proof because they can they advantage of secured credit, asset securitization and foreign havens for secreting assets in addition to traditional vehicles for avoiding legal liability – such as scattering assets among subsidiaries (LoPucki 1996, p. 14–38). See also Mendelson 2002, p. 1236 who claims even that "[a]s among excessively risky projects, corporations will be more inclined to select those with a relatively delayed realization of excessive costs. Projects where the risky activity leads to a latent injury – one not immediately detectable, such as pollution or cancer – will be preferred." More emotionally loaded comments are expressed by Mitchell 2001, p. 59: "Limited liability means never having to say you are sorry – or at least feel the pain or sorrow."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Hansmann – Kraakman 1991, p. 1892.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Ringleb – Wiggins 1990, p. 589.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Brooks 2002, p. 122.

The proposal to abolish limited liability relies heavily on the efficiency of markets for insurance as well as for equity investments and other securities. Because currently even enterprises whose owners are protected by limited liability have purchased liability insurance, <sup>12</sup> Hansmann and Kraakman argue that most likely firms would decide to have more insurance under unlimited liability in order to cover those tort loses which are foreseeable. <sup>13</sup> They also presume that modern developments in risk assessment as well as the globalisation of insurance markets have made liabilities much easier to insure. <sup>14</sup> Moreover, even if companies were not able to purchase total shelter against tort judgements, this would not establish an obstacle for the unlimited liability rule; according to Hansmann and Kraakman modern securities markets would provide means for an investor to diversify her risk if the unlimited liability were pro rata. <sup>15</sup>

In order to understand this proposition, we must notice that unlimited liability may be arranged at least in two different ways. Firstly, the rule may be "joint and several liability" meaning that each shareholder is potentially liable for the full amount of tort judgement to the extent that it exceeds the value of the firm's assets. <sup>16</sup> Thus, she would also bear her fellow stockowners' portion of the compensation for damages it they lack financial assets or are judgement-proof otherwise.

The alternative to joint and several liability is pro rata rule under which each stockholder is personally liable for a judgement exceeding the company's assets but only for the percentage that her ownership represents of all the shares issued.<sup>17</sup> An investor who posses one thousandth of shares may be assessed against for the very same percentage of the excess liability. If a company that has issued one million shares is unable to meet a judgement of one milliard euros, each share would be asserted one thousand euros.<sup>18</sup>

An equally important feature of the pro rata rule is that it applies to the original amount of excess liability meaning that the absolute maximum value of liability per share is derived from the total shortfall. If in our previous example

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> For an evaluation whether insurance might undermine the deterrent effect of liability and thus be socially undesirable, see Shavell 2000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Hansmann – Kraakman 1991, p. 1888–1889.

On the general availability of insurance, see Stiglitz 1994, p. 287–288.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Hansmann – Kraakman 1991, p. 1903–1904.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 16}$  See generally Ribstein – Kobayashi 1998 which provides a comparison of joint and several liability with non-joint liability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Leebron 1991, p. 1581, remarks that also the prevailing rule of limited liability is actually a pro rata -arrangement: losses up to the amount of the investment – with a zero amount of excess liability – must be allocated among the owners according to their proportions of share capital.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> This example is modified of the one provided by Leebron 1991, p. 1578.

all her fellow stockholders were judgement-proof, a owner of a single share would have to bear only one thousand euros. When a particular investor is unable to fulfil her proportion of excess liability, the other members of the company are not obliged to step in her place. In other words, each owner is liable only for her share of the judgement.<sup>19</sup>

A pro rata rule is not equivalent to a joint and several liability coupled with a contribution rule. Under the latter arrangement an owner's maximum responsibility depends on the wealth of her fellow stockowners because she is liable for the amount of judgement that cannot be collected from others. Ultimately, under a rule of joint liability, even when contribution rule is applied, an investor might be held liable for the one milliard judgement of our earlier example. The value of a share would therefore depend on the owner's wealth: the richer the person is, the more she is risking *de facto* by investing in a share of a enterprise under a rule of joint and several liability. If the fellow stockholders have moderate means compared to her, it is likely that she will have to pay some of the damages levied against the ones that turn out later to be judgement-proof.

This risk of being liable also for other stockowners portion of the judgement is the very reason for Hansmann and Kraakman to clearly favour the pro rata rule against the rule of joint and several liability: "Under a pro rata rule, shares would have the same expected value for all shareholders." In effect, they argue that a pro rata rule would make the owners to internalise the costs of torts in a homogenous way which should also be reflected in the share price at a stock exchange.

At modern stock exchanges the transactions of shares can be very rapid. It is the very basis of liquidity that the markets can offer to investors. In the regime of extended pro rata -rule, however, this feature would induce the owners to sell their shares opportunistically in order to escape liability as soon as they hear of tort liability that were about to materialise. Therefore, in order to determine which ones of the stockholders are to bear the extended liability, a timing rule has to be chosen. Hansmann and Kraakman propose a rule under which liability would primarily attach those who were owners at the moment the company's management became aware that a claim of mass tort would be filed. This information-based rule would prevent investors evading responsibility for tort damages. If the moment cannot be determined in a particular case, then the hour

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> A similar arrangement is employed at the insurance market of Lloyd's in London, see Arshadi – Karels 1997, p. 172.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Hansmann – Kraakman 1991, p. 1904.

when the claim was actually filed would be decisive. Moreover, when the company is dissolved before filing, the persons who were the last shareholders of the company would bear the liability.<sup>21</sup>

Hansmann and Kraakman also claim that the costs of collection would not be prohibitive under a pro rata -rule. They refer to current bankruptcy mechanics: accounts receivable are already collected routinely from dozens even hundreds of debtors by bankruptcy trustees.<sup>22</sup>

#### 1.2. Aim and Structure of the Study

This paper discusses the concept of limited liability and explores its rationale and restrictions. I will focus on a company's non-contractual tort and other extra-contractual liability. This choice is made in order to sharpen the exposure. With a strict focus on torts and other extra-contractual liabilities, I also pass the question which creditors are involuntary and which are not.<sup>23</sup> In other words, I do not get involved in the debate on whether a borrower or some other stakeholder in a contractual relationship with a company is capable of taking limited liability into account when she is negotiating the price and other conditions for the transaction.

In the introduction chapter was provided a sketch of back-and-forth arguments of current laws and economics debate of the desirability of limited liability.<sup>24</sup> However, after this general description of the playing field, I do not purport to offer a complete review of jurisprudential literature on this matter; there are several up to date surveys available already.<sup>25</sup> Instead, my aim is to study some of the most fundamental assumptions of pro rata -liability.

I hasten to admit that the following exposure is by no means novel or original. It has been developed in financial economics years ago. My contribution is in application of these concepts to the very basic question whether limited liability – in its pro rata or absolute form – is indispensable condition for diversification. So far I have not encountered a similar study, at least in none of the legal journals or other jurisprudential literature I am familiar with.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> *Ibid*, p. 1897.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> *Ibid*, p. 1900.

<sup>23</sup> Ibid, s. 1920-1921.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> This study is exclusively a law and economics exercise; for an account of ethical arguments see *e.g.* Kilpi 1998, p. 177–196. A review of feminist critique is provided by Wylie 1999, p. 28–37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See Carney 2000, Halpern 1998 and Kraakman 1998.

#### 2. WHAT DOES DIVERSIFICATION ACCOMPLISH?

The benefits of diversification in risk pooling are the functional justification for insurance as well as for stock market.<sup>26</sup> This point can be captured by considering a historical example of medieval ship-ownership, *commenda*, where the passive investor, commendator, provided capital to the managing party to finance a sea-voyage or other overseas venture of commercial nature.<sup>27</sup> Consequently, vessels were owned by commendators who were wealthy private merchants. To begin with, simplifying the exposition, let us assume that commendators had only one ship each. Thus they all faced the same uncertainty: the risk of losing a major part of personal wealth. A commendator, however, had an advantage by enjoying limited liability: she could lose her vessel but not be subjected to other demands arising from the venture.<sup>28</sup>

In the following it is assumed, for descriptive purposes, a probability of 20 per cent that a ship is lost, either sunk in a storm or taken over by pirates. In such a case the commendator receives nothing. But as a counter-weight to this downside risk, there is also the potential upside; in the following example we assume that if the ship returns successfully – with a probability of 80 per cent – from its journey, the commendator's net profit will be 100.000 euros. On the other hand, if the vehicle is wrecked or lost otherwise, she has to shoulder a loss of 50.000 euros *i.e.* the average market value of a ship in our example.

To quantify the risk that each commendator faces, we can apply common probabilistic means, *variance* and *volatility*. Variance is a vehicle to answer the question of how much will possible outcomes deviate from the expected one (*i.e.* average of potential payoffs): each square of the difference between a potential payoff and the expected one is multiplied by the probability of that potential payoff and then all terms are summed.<sup>29</sup> More formally, variance measures the average square of the difference between actual payoff and its expected value.<sup>30</sup> However, the variance is in squared units of the underlying data which is rather cumbersome to consider; if some unknown variable (X) is measured in euros, the variance of X tells us the dispersion in squared euros.<sup>31</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See Arrow 1965.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See *e.g.* Hamilton 1997, pp. 621–624; Kohn 1999, pp. 14–16; and Briys – de Varanne 2000. The following mathematical exposition is based on Mason 1995.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Hamilton 1997, p. 623.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Weston – Copeland 1992, p. 364.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> In other words, variance is equal to the weighted average of squared deviations from the expected value, *e.g.* Ross 1999, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Ashenfelter *et al.* 2003, p. 50.

This problem can be overcome by taking the square root of the variance, which results in volatility (i.e. standard deviation).<sup>32</sup>

In our example there are only two possible outcomes. Either the ship is lost or it returns safely. For the first mentioned outcome the probability is 20 per cent and the payoff –50.000 euros while for the other outcome, the vessel returning safely, the probability is 80 percent with the payoff of 100.000 euros. The volatility amounts to 60.000 euros in this setting.<sup>33</sup>

It is not exaggerated to state that in medieval times each sea voyage was an individualistic one even if it was not a search for new worlds. Therefore, the risk of encountering pirates or unbearable storms was independent of the fates of other ships. In these circumstances the commendators soon began to transact between themselves in order to control risks. They swapped the payoffs of the voyages as well as the losses. In order to illustrate the benefit of this exercise, we return to our example. The object of our interest is a case where there are two commendators, A and her fellow merchant B, owning one ship each on voyages with maximum payoff of 100.000 euros and with maximum loss of 50.000 euros. When a commendator swaps half of her expected payoff against the other, the probabilities are following:

- First, the probability that both the ships return safely is 64 per cent (*i.e.* 80% \* 80%). Then the total payoff for each commendator is 100.000 euros, including half of the net payoff from her vessel (50.000 euros) as well as from the other commendator's ship (50.000 euros). Therefore, in this case the monetary outcome for both of them is the same as if they had not entered into the swap-agreement between themselves.
- Second, in a case where commendator A's ship did not come back she had nevertheless a share of 50 per cent in B's vessel. If that one returned safely, our commendators's payoff was 25.000 euros (*i.e.*  $^{1}/_{2}$  \* -50.000 +  $^{1}/_{2}$  \* 100.000) with a probability of 16 per cent (*i.e.* 20% \* 80%). However, with the same probability the case could be a reversed one: commendator A's ship returns from the voyage while B's vessel is lost. In this case the payoff of the commendator is the same as above: she is netting 25.000 euros with a probability of 16 per cent. Therefore, the probability for this outcome is doubled to 32 per cent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See e.g. Dembo – Freeman 1998, p. 60 or Warsham – Parramore 1997, p. 58.

Volatility:  $60.000 = [20\% * (-50.000 - 70.000)^2 + 80\% * (100.000 - 70.000)^2]^{1/2}$ .

• Finally, the possibility that both ships were lost cannot be excluded from consideration. The probability of this alternative is, however, only 4 per cent (*i.e.* 20% \* 20%) under the swap arrangement between commendators A and B.

What can be accomplished under this arrangement? The expected payoff of commendator A has remained the same 70.000 euros as before entering the swap transaction with her fellow merchant. But the advantage of the transaction is that the risk of extreme negative outcome, *i.e.* risk of losing all, diminishes to only 4 per cent from 20. The lesser risk can be manifested by stating that the volatility has fallen by 17.574 euros, from 60.000 to 42.426 euros.<sup>34</sup> This advantage, however, comes at a cost: the potential for the maximum payoff – netting 100.000 euros – decreases due to this arrangement from 80 to 64 per cent.

Both parties, commendator A and B, benefit from the transaction of swapping half of their potential payoffs against each other: collectively the risk arising from the ship ownership is borne more efficiently. This gain is not limited to a company of two, it can be increased further by adding more and more parties to the arrangement.

Diversification, however, does not ever change the real risk in the economy, it only reallocates it. The expected payoff to individual parties remains at 70.000 euros. Although the standard deviation of each party's payoff is lower with the swapping compared to indivisible ownership, it remains true that the commendators collectively bear all the shipping risk in the economy, irrespective of the arrangement concerning ownership. The advantage of diversification is simply in cutting of the most extreme outcomes.<sup>35</sup>

# 3. RISK OF JOINT FAILURE DUE TO EXTENDED LIABILITY

One of the corner-stones of modern financial theory is that diversification of assets reduces risk.<sup>36</sup> In the light of the virtues of diversification presented in the preceding chapter, the proposition of Hansmann and Kraakman seems to be a

 $<sup>^{34}</sup>$  Volatility:  $42.426 = [4\% * (-50.000 - 70.000)^2 + (16\% + 16\%) * (25.000 - 70.000)^2 + 64\% * (100.000 - 70.000)^2]^{1/2}$ .

<sup>35</sup> Mason 1995, pp. 169-170.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> The classical analyses of this feature are provided by Markowitz 1952 (p. 78: "Diversification is both observed and sensible; a rule of behavior which does not imply the superiority of diversification must be rejected both as hypothesis and as a maximin") and Roy 1952 (p. 138: "In general, it will be desirable to hold our resources in a large number of different forms, because

reasonable one: if an investor holds a portfolio of different stocks issued by several companies, the pro rata liability does not appear to place too heavy a burden on her.

There is, however, a countervailing force; pooling intensifies the risk of joint failure. This effect can be captured by examining a group structure of firms where the parent company can transfer funds and other resources between its subsidiaries. Under such an arrangement the probabilistic likelihood of joint failure of companies belonging to the same group is greater relative to operating these companies individually.

Hansmann and Kraakman do indeed acknowledge that the pro rata -rule would add to the risk. Nevertheless, they interpret this to have only a minor effect; it could be diluted with a more intense diversification:

"It seems unlikely that even a catastrophic liability judgement would impose costs exceeding a publicly-traded firm's value by more than, say, a multiple of five. Thus, an unlucky small shareholder who had placed 5% of a \$100.000 portfolio in the stock of such a firm would stand to lose \$25.000, or 25% of her portfolio's value, in worst case scenario. A large institution with 0,2% of its assets invested in the same stock would lose 1% of its asset value. Although such losses would be serious, they would hardly be beyond the pale of ordinary market fluctuations."

Here Hansmann and Kraakman are sketching – what they think to be – the extreme outcome. As we have seen, diversification, however, is by no means a *Deux ex machina* that can make the risk of extended liability for a shareholder to disappear. Hansmann and Kraakman disregard the effect of possible joint failure. They describe a scenario where it is possible that one, but only one, of the portfolio firms ends up in insolvency.

Moreover, they are not willing to spell out the highest multiple of liability: the multiple of five is provided only as an example. Later, one of the authors, Reinier Kraakman, has come out with even a higher figure: "— in the worst case — the resulting liabilities would be unlikely to exceed the company's assets by a factor of more than a ten."<sup>37</sup> The guidance for a risk averse investor is sparse: the reservation, "unlikely", does not ease the uncertainty.

although we may diminish the chance of a large gain somewhat by so doing we also reduce the probability of really catastrophic outcome"). For a retrospective review, see Fabozzi *et al.* 2002. Prices of listed shares reflect the effect of diversification. If the diversification option was not allowed or otherwise unavailable, meaning that each investor could place her funds only in a particular company, the price of that company's share would be higher *ceteris paribus* because it includes also the compensation for specific risk, see Damodaran 2001, p. 163.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Kraakman 1998, p. 651.

#### 3.1. Numerical Example

In order to demonstrate the limitations of Hansmann and Kraakman's view, we play it safe and set the factor of extended liability at still a higher level, let us say 25: an investment of *e.g.* 100 euros means risking an extra 2.400 euros at maximum if this extended liability materialises.

The choice of this multiple 25 can be derived from the well-established fact that diversification of an investor's portfolio in some 20 or 30 different companies neutralises the variability of an portfolio's return due to the unique, company-specific risk.<sup>38</sup> This type of risk stems from those perils surrounding an individual company that are peculiar to that particular enterprise and its line of business. But even with that kind of diversification an investor cannot avoid all the risk, she has to bear the market risk regardless the number of companies in her stock portfolio; there are no means available to get rid of the risk that is inherit in the stock market, deriving simply from the choice of being present at the market as an investor. Market risk arises because there are always economy-wide perils which threaten companies in all lines of business. That is why share prices of listed firms tend to move together; generally, when the market is going up or down, there are only few exceptions. Therefore, each investor is always exposed to market risk, no matter the number of companies whose shares she has in her portfolio.<sup>39</sup>

Now we are ready to proceed with our example: A prudent risk averse investor wants to construct a portfolio of investments, *i.e.* companies, in such a way that does not expose her personal property to extended liability beyond the funds invested in this portfolio. She is willing to risk a certain fixed amount, for example 100.000 euros, that is placed in the portfolio but not a cent extra (*i.e.* the maximum of acceptable liability). How should she construct her portfolio?

To answer this question, let us suppose further that every company in the portfolio faces a potential loss of fixed amount, 1.000 euros, whose probability of occurrence is 1 per cent. Each company in the portfolio contributes 4 cents per euro of coverage to the portfolio, or four times the expected loss. For example, for providing coverage for the maximum acceptable liability, 100.000 euros, the amount invested in each company should be 4.000 euros; the expected loss in each company being 1.000 euros as already stated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Gilson – Black 1995, p. 92: "Holding 20 properly chosen stocks reduces unsystematic variance [unique risk] by roughly 95% and thus achieves most of the value of diversification." For an economic analysis of the way that unique risk is reduced by diversification, see Statman 1987.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Brealey – Myers 2000, p. 167–168.

An additional investment object, *i.e.* a new company, contributes to the portfolio's risk-bearing capacity – as Hansmann and Kraakman tell us – but at the very same time adds to the probability of the portfolio's loss. Data in Table 1 below distinguishes the risk-bearing and risk-producing effects from each other. The table is slightly modified from Smith – Kane 1994 (p. 9–10); the following presentation also follows quite closely their argumentation.

**Table 1:** Probability that portfolio will fail due to extended liability of 25 times invested capital per a company

Number of	Number of failures	Probability	
Companies	that can be absorbed	that Portfolio	
in Portfolio	with Portfolio funds	will fail <sup>40</sup>	
1	0	1,00 %	
2	0	1,99 %	
3	0	2,97 %	
4	0	3,94 %	
~	~	~	
23	0	20,64 %	
24	0	21,43 %	
25	1	2,58 %	
26	1	2,78 %	
27	1	2,97 %	
~	~	~	
48	1	8,34 %	
49	1	8,64 %	
50	2	1,38 %	
51	2	1,45 %	
52	2	1,54 %	
~	~	~	
52 ~	2 ~	1,54 %	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> The probability of failure can be obtained following the *addition theorem of probability*. See *e.g.* Ross 199, p. 4. In a case of two companies (A and B) this means adding up the individual probabilities of failure of both companies and distracting from this sum the multiple of these probabilities, *i.e.* Prob(A) + Prob(B) - (Prob(A) \* Prob(B)) = 0.01 + 0.01 - (0.01 \* 0.01) = 1.99 %. For three companies the probability of failure can derived from the following: Prob(A) + Prob(B) + Prob(C) - [Prob(A) \* Prob(B)] - [Prob(A) \* Prob(C)] - [Prob(B) \* Prob(C)] + [Prob(A) \* Prob(B) \* Prob(C)]. The formula gets more complicated as the number of companies is increased but the principle remains the same.

73	2	3,71 %
74	2	3,84 %
75	3	0,69 %
76	3	0,72 %
77	3	0,76 %
~	~	~
98	3	1,72 %
99	3	1,78 %
100	4	0,34 %
101	4	0,36 %
102	4	0,37 %
~	~	~
123	4	0,82 %
124	4	0,84 %
125	5	0,17 %
126	5	0,18 %
127	5	0,18 %

When an investment of 4.000 euros, that equals four times the expected loss, 1.000 euros, is added to the portfolio, one might expect the risk-bearing capacity of the portfolio to strengthen quickly. The table illustrates, however, that the strengthening does not begin to occur until 100 investment objects are included in the portfolio.

Adding investments does not help risk-bearing because funds accumulated from 24 or fewer investments cannot cover even a single loss. Because a loss in more likely to occur when additional companies are entered in the portfolio, the probability of failure increases. Not until the portfolio consists of 25 investments of equal size will the probability decrease.

The argument above is well-understood by Hansmann and Kraakman. However, they do miss the fact that the probability of failure with several, in our example 25, investments is still larger than with only a single one. Not until the number of companies exceeds 99 does the probability of (joint) failure diminish below 1 per cent that is the failure rate of a single investment in our example.

If more new investments beyond 100 are added, the probability of failure continues to follow the pattern just described above. The probability increases except at points of discontinuity where the assets in the portfolio reach the level where they can absorb another loss. For every 25th investment, the capacity to absorb a loss increases by one unit; and the probability of failure reaches a new low at the very same point.

The marginal effect of adding an extra investment is to weaken the portfolio

except where that investment contributed resources allow the portfolio to absorb an extra loss. In other words, local and ultimate effects of adding new firms to a portfolio can be in opposite directions. However, the additional capacity gradually overcomes any tendency of extra investments to weaken the portfolio. With 1.000 companies, for instance, the probability of (joint) failure is not detectable at the sixth decimal place.

To summarise, funds required to maintain the probability of failure at a given level depend on the probability of loss and the number of companies in the portfolio. An increase in the number allows a smaller per-investment contribution to risk-bearing capacity, but the absolute level of this capacity still increases with the number of investments. Although risk-bearing resources are employed more efficiently in a large portfolio, a higher absolute level of these resources is required as the number increases.

On the other hand, it is utmost crucial to notice that the assessment made in the example presented above was made possible in the first place by the fact that the maximum (potential) liability was known *ex ante* by setting the numerator at 25. As already said, Hansmann and Kraakman have offered multiples of five and ten only as examples that will "likely" be enough to cover even the highest monetary value of any tort judgement. By this indeterminacy, however, an investor is denied the certainty of her possible maximum liability. Therefore, in order to minimise her risk she has to employ a multiple as high or higher as used in our example. The transactions costs of providing diversification with shares in some 100 companies will be prohibitive for investors with modest means.

#### 3.2. Extended Liability in Economic History

The predetermined multiple for liability resembles the system of uncalled capital that dominated the early stock markets: part of the share capital was kept uncalled in order to secure the goodwill of creditors. In 1850s the unpaid portion of shares was considered in England as a security of highest order in favour of creditors because it constitutes a continuous guarantee fund which is effectively beyond the control of management.<sup>41</sup>

Some jurisdictions even provided for mandatory double liability. Such a system existed in the American banking sector prior to Great Depression. The National Banking Act of 1863 stated that each shareholder shall be liable to the amount of the par value of the shares held by her in addition to the amount

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Jeffreys 1946, p. 348.

invested in such shares. Thus, shareholders were liable for assessment for the benefit of creditors if the bank failed; the liability was, however, limited to the par value of the shareholder's stock. The system lasted over 70 years until it was repealed in early 1930s.<sup>42</sup>

American professors *Jonathan Macey* and *Geoffrey Miller* have studied thoroughly the effects of the double liability. They found that the system did not exist only on paper. On the contrary, it was effectively enforced: thousands of cases were argued before lower courts and even the Supreme Court of the United States made over 100 decisions on this topic. Moreover, about half the amount assessed on shareholders were actually collected from them. Macey and Miller find this to be a good recovery rate given that the double liability had a drastic effect on shareholders: many of them were insolvent when their banks failed.<sup>43</sup>

To be sure, some jurisdictions have experienced even with the unlimited version of pro rata liability. Most notable of these is the state of *California*. Before year 1931 pro rata liability was provided by California law to local companies. At that time, however, large tort actions against enterprises did not exist. Moreover, regarding also voluntary creditors, shareholders were liable for the firm's liabilities only for three years after the credit was taken. Thus, one cannot draw straightforward inference from that experiment regarding the potential effects of pro rata liability in today's environment.<sup>44</sup>

One could also refer to the example of *American Express Corporation*. When this company was founded 1850, the paragraph 5 of its charter gave the board of directors the right to assess for loss and damages on pro rata basis. This paragraph was, however, abolished in 1965, when American Express became a limited liability company.<sup>45</sup> Until that year the firm provided a real world example to examine the effects of the Hansmann and Kraakman proposal.

A professor of economics, *Peter Grossman* has examined with statistical means the liquidity of shares issued by American Express in 1950s. In his article published in 1995 Grossman finds that there existed regular market for American Express shares that were actively traded. The number of stockholders was also high, averaging about 25.000.<sup>46</sup> The wealth of owners did not appear to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> General economic analysis of the system are provided by Esty 1998, Wilson – Kane 1996 and Yan 1999.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> See Macey – Miller 1992 and Macey – Miller 1993. *Cf.* Jackson 1993.

<sup>44</sup> See Weinstein 2001, p. 4, fn. 3 and 4, and p. 17.

<sup>45</sup> Grossman 1995, p. 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> One particular shareholder, however, controlled a position of 10 per cent at that time, *ibid*, p. 77.

have been a factor in the share price at any time. Moreover, the spread between bid and asked prices were comparable to other shares in the same price range.<sup>47</sup> On this evidence Grossman concludes that the case of American Express gives support to the notion that limited liability is not a necessary condition for the liquidity of shares.<sup>48</sup>

Grossman, however, misses a fundamental point. The pro rata liability did not exist *de facto*. The paragraph referred above states that "[The] Trustees are hereby further authorised and empowered in the extraordinary loss or damage – to assess the whole or any portion of the amount of such loss or damage on each and every of the members – of [the] Company in proportion to the number of shares – owned and held by each." This is clearly to be read that the pro rata liability was not unconditional. It depended on the Trustees, *i.e.* the board of directors, which in turn consisted of major shareholders and their representatives. Thus, it is highly unlikely that they would have drawn a decision to allow the liability due to a judgement of amount exceeding the company's assets. And no tort victim or any other person could activate the pro rata liability against the board's will.

# 4. OTHER ALTERNATIVES TO ENSURE SATISFACTION OF TORT CLAIMS

Proponents of the unlimited pro rata liability could counter the arguments presented above by stating that those are of a secondary importance only; the coverage of tort victims should be the main concern, not the possible effects on shareholders. In order to overcome this line of argumentation one has to provide alternatives that satisfy tort victims at least as well as the proposed unlimited pro rata liability of shareholders. After all, even the proponents of pro rata liability cannot immediately exclude the possibility that an alternative legal vehicle could be more effective in providing coverage for tort victims. Therefore, in the following we concentrate on coverage-oriented reform proposals which seek to guarantee that the company or its owners have adequate funds to bear tort claims.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> *Ibid*, p. 76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> *Ibid*, p. 84.

<sup>49</sup> *Ibid*, p. 73, fn. 73.

#### 4.1. Requirement of Mandatory Insurance

The most standard off-the-rack proposal *de lege ferenda* to satisfy the claims of tort victims is to require companies to carry insurance for that purpose. <sup>50</sup> The benefits of insurance, however, are easily misunderstood. A representative example is offered by a British professor of company and securities law, *Ben Pettet*:

"A company hit by huge mass tort claims will probably be insolvent whether it was adequately capitalised or not. [--] What is needed is a law requiring companies to purchase liability insurance against tort claims to the extent that the claims overtop their assets. [--] — only if the assets were exhausted and the claim remained partially unsatisfied would the overtop insurance cut in and provide funds." [--] — only if the assets were exhausted and the claim remained partially unsatisfied would the overtop insurance cut in and provide funds."

This statement by Pettet is based on a non-explicit presumption of insurance coverage being available; if this option exists it would mean that a insurance firm would provide effective monitoring. However, this is not true: the insurance market does not offer non-limited cover because that is not required by the law. If it were required, the mandatory coverage requirement would in essence substitute the judgement of the insurance market for that of the legislator or regulator about the acceptable level of risk. By a law imposed duty to provide coverage does not make the unlimited risks more insurable than they are in a setting prevailing today where such a duty is non-existent. Insurers simply do not offer those types of coverage that they cannot provide on a cost-effective basis. If they are required, they tend to offer the minimum coverage with maximum exclusions and exceptions permitted by law.<sup>52</sup>

Insurers are just as capable as investors in diversifying risks.<sup>53</sup> Due to specialisation efficiencies, however, insurance market is the best available institution to monitor and quantify tort risks; the business of insurers is just that of monitoring and assessing tort risks. This applies if, and only if, insurers are able to link premiums, *i.e.* their fee, and other conditions of an insurance policy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> See *e.g.* Shavell 1986, p. 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Pettet 1995, p. 157.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> LoPucki 1996, p. 81.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Arrow 1965, p. 47: "— there are no other major institutions in which the shifting of risks through the market appears in such an explicit form as in insurance and common stocks." Franke 1996, p. 117: "We regard the shareholders as financiers and insurers of exogenous and endogenous risks of corporations. They diversify their portfolios and so get rid of unsystematic risks ——." See also Skogh 1991, p. 1.

to precautions of a particular insured enterprise. If insurers cannot asses the company's level of care and derive terms of insurance policy to it, then a classical dilemma of "moral hazard"<sup>54</sup> arises and enterprises are likely to take less care than if they did not have to buy coverage.<sup>55</sup> The dilemma of moral hazard is that it provides an enterprise the incentive to try transfer its risk for payment below the expected cost, to obtain a free gift.<sup>56</sup>

In an environment proposed by Pettet the moral hazard problem is escalated because a company would be required to take the policy on behalf of not itself or shareholders but possible tort victims. The moral hazard problem can be certainly be overcome by adjusting the insurance premium to reflect the increase in the expected loss resulting from the lesser care taking. The problem, however, is with this option that the premium requirement in an unlimited liability environment would likely to be set at a level so high that it would not be feasible for firms at all.

We are not claiming that in the prevailing regime of limited liability the companies are monitored perfectly by insurers. The point is that there are alternatives in practice to monitoring the behaviour and adjusting the premium accordingly. These take the form of partial insurance coverage, as in deductible or coinsurance. In both cases the resulting coverage is not complete; it leaves some risk on a risk averse enterprise and it does not completely solve the moral hazard problem.

If companies were required to have coverage to an unlimited amount they would have the hardest time finding such an insurance;<sup>57</sup> it would be outside the boundaries of insurability.<sup>58</sup> Insurers cannot control the actions of a company that does not have a true interest to limit accidents because the ultimate beneficiaries of the coverage would not be the company itself or its investors but outsiders, the tort creditors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Culp 2002, p. 316 provides a general description of the moral hazard problem: "When the purchaser of insurance can take actions that impact either the probability of incurring an insurable loss or the size of the loss and asymmetric information prevents the insurer from perfectly observing those actions of the insured, the problem of moral hazard may arise." Of optimal insurance contracts under moral hazard see Winter 2000, p. 155–183.

 $<sup>^{55}</sup>$  See *e.g.* Shavell 1986, p. 54, where it is observed that if insurers cannot determine the quality of a utility's training program for a nuclear facility, the utility's incentives to adequately train a worker will be dulled by a liability insurance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Mackaay 1982, p. 179.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Viscusi (1990) found in his statistical study of insurance markets in different US jurisdictions that the availability of insurance varies under different statutory regimes: the more the provisions capped the potential liability, the more insurance coverage was being available.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Berliner (1982) reviews the general conditions of insurability.

Legislators in Finland and elsewhere have surely laboured numerous requirements for citizens to purchase liability coverage. The most notable example is the compulsory insurance for automobile owners that is common in most developed economies. But it is based on actuarial data of accident frequencies for different driver categories and as well for amounts of coverage actually paid; established insurers have collected such data during several decades. Similar information, however, is impossible to have of unforeseeable accidents that companies might cause in the future; experience based premiums can be determined *ex post* and so they will lag behind the observations of risky behaviour.<sup>59</sup> Thus, insurers would not simply offer unlimited coverage for such accidents.

To counter the argument presented above one could refer to the example of *Lloyds of London* which is world-famous for providing insurance even for the most extraordinary and bizarre accidents.<sup>60</sup> The sample size of similar events may be very small or even non-existent. Thus, there is no actuarial data available of such accidents to base a premium required meaning that the risk exposure from providing insurance may be considerable.<sup>61</sup>

Nevertheless, such contracts do exist and premiums for them are set in practice. It could be well argued that this kind of an insurance offered without actuarial basis is really equivalent to a lottery. Wouldn't Lloyds or similar organisations be then ready to offer insurance as well to cover the upper unlimited liability that Pettet refers to? The answer is no. Even the society of Lloyds is no place to find unlimited coverage: members have to name the maximum liability they can carry per year.<sup>62</sup> This in turn means that contracts written always provide the maximum amount to be paid. Thus, by contradicting the very basic principles of actuarial practice the proposal of Pettet is nonfeasible in the real world of insurance.

Hansmann and Kraakman are by no means in favour of a mandatory insurance requirement described above.<sup>63</sup> However, in essence, they are proposing a similar system; they are only approaching the matter from a different angle than Pettet.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Carney 2000, p. 686.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Lloyd's is an insurance provider *sui generis*: it is not a company but a brokered market in which underwriting syndicates both compete and co-operate. The extraordinary policies issued by Lloyd's include a concert pianist's hands and the legs of a racehorse. Arshadi – Karels 1997, p. See also www.lloydsoflondon.com.

<sup>61</sup> Allsopp 1995, p. 354.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Gastel 1995, p. 57: "Once elected into the Society, members select a membership category, based on their wealth. This dictates the maximum amount of risk they can underwrite for that year."

<sup>63</sup> Hansmann – Kraakman 1991, p. 1927.

In order to ease the worried mind of a small risk averse shareholder facing the prospect of unlimited liability they introduce a new concept: "portfolio insurance" which would cover the investor's stock holdings in a case of a tort claim. Hansmann and Kraakman, according to their own words, "-- do not see no reason why unlimited coverage ought not be available to small shareholders for a price that is not prohibitive."64 What distinguishes this kind of insurance, however, of more common liability contracts written today, is exactly the openended nature of a possible loss that has to be covered. Therefore, this type on coverage does not exist in the current insurance markets. And just due to this feature of limitless liability, it is also unlikely that insurers would ever be willing to write such policies in the future. Hansmann and Kraakman do not seem to recognise the importance of this difference even though they state that the proposed concept of portfolio insurance is "uncoventional." On the contrary, they are ready to equalise portfolio insurance with more typical policies such as life insurance: "- - insurers - - might be willing to supply such coverage because, like life insurance sold to airline passengers, it would be profitable."65

To repeat shortly the argument we have already presented above, there is clearly no actuarial data available of corporate mass torts as is of motoring accidents. Therefore, it is highly unlikely that the insurers could assess the risks to set a premium for a portfolio insurance. This is also demonstrated in telephone interviews carried out by Hansmann and Kraakman where "-- writers of liability insurance for business claim to be able to control moral hazard by inspecting their insureds and employing experience ratings." This is certainly so, but these interviewed insurance specialists have most likely considered in their comments only coverage of well-known risks and limited, not unlimited coverage.

<sup>64</sup> *Ibid*, p. 1901.

<sup>65</sup> Hansmann and Kraakman also refer (*ibid*, fn. 62) to the British experience with mandatory auto liability insurance that does not carry upper cap, at least for personal injuries. However, maximum potential liability can be estimated quite accurately even regarding the British automobile insurance. Pursuant to Section 145(4) of the Road Traffic Act provides that the minimum insurance cover against property damage must be at least £250.000. Moreover, a person is exempted from the requirement to have an automobile insurance – against liability for death and injury to any person as well damage to property – altogether if she deposits with a certain authority a sum of £500.000. See Evans 2000, p. 326–327. This amount, covering all liability, represents reliable estimate of the maximum insurance coverage to be upheld by a court.

<sup>66</sup> Hansmann – Kraakman 1991, p. 1890.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Halpern 1998, p. 590. Also Faure 1995, p. 459: "— an insurer in essence will never provide unlimited coverage." For similar comments made by a representative of the insurance industry see *e.g.* Aickin 1986: "No risk is insurable without cover limitations to define the risk which is transferred." See also Culp 2002, p. 319: "It is rare to find an insurance contract without a policy limit some kind."

Moreover, in theoretical studies of insurance, it has been concluded that upper limits are optimal because beyond some point the expected benefit of additional coverage is smaller than its costs, given that the price of insurance must reflect the cost of paying losses that otherwise would fall on the counter-party of the contract.<sup>68</sup> To summarise, the theory of unlimited pro rata liability asks for more than the insurance market can ever bear.<sup>69</sup>

At least in theory, insurance does not have to be bought from a third party; there is the possibility of "home-made" insurance. Already in 1976 *Richard Posner* proposed an in-house alternative to a mandatory insurance. According to him, a company involved in a dangerous activity should "— post a bond equal to the highest reasonable estimate of the probable extent of its tort liability." A requirement of posting such a bond would reserve funds available to meet possible tort liabilities of the company. This proposal, however, does not lend itself to be easily implemented in practice. For one thing, the "reasonable estimate" of maximum liability is hard to assess, even if one would be able to agree who – Posner does not provide guidance on this matter – is to made such an estimate. Difficulties in assessment are at least as severe as in the alternative of mandatory insurance.

#### 4.2. Superpriority of Tort Claims

Still another option in providing more coverage to accident victims is to raise their status in a bankruptcy estate. A tort creditor's claim is unsecured by its nature. Thus she is – among the other unsecured creditors – the last one to collect from a bankruptcy estate. And most likely the estate's funds are already exhausted before her.

A security interest in property is a lien acquired by contract to assure performance of a debt of other obligation. Under the insolvency legislation, a secured creditor with a validly obtained lien has absolute priority – up to value of her security – over tort claims and other unsecured liabilities. Shortly, she can collect ahead of others, *inter alia* tort victims; they recover from the collateral only to the extent of the value, if any, in excess of the amount owed to the secured creditor. Only after her claim is satisfied, the other creditors may share remaining value of that asset in proportion to the proved amount of their claims.

The pros and cons of secured debt are heavily debated today among

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> For a review, see Harrington – Danzon 2000, p. 287–288. Huberman *et al.* 1983, p. 416–426, provide a mathematical exposure of this.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Bratton – McCahery 1997, p. 655.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Posner 1976, p. 520.

American scholars.<sup>71</sup> Professor *Mark Roe* summarises possible benefits from an economic point of view:

"First, the secured creditor can monitor the security offered and thereby sometimes stop the debtor from substituting riskier projects than it anticipated at the time it lends to the debtor. Second, the creditor may cut down on its own information gathering: it understands one part of the debtor's business and lends on the assets in the business it understands —. Third, the first creditor is worried about the debtor borrowing and dissipating the proceeds of future loans, leaving the first creditor with a diluted claim it must share with other creditors; grabbing priority and a key asset reduces the debtor's and the new lender's incentives to borrow and take on risky projects in which the proceeds of the loan could be dissipated."<sup>72</sup>

Despite of these benefits some American professors, nevertheless, have been eager to propose a change in the law.<sup>73</sup> They would like to provide the tort victims priority over the secured creditors. According to this proposal the claims of tort victims can be elevated over those of secured creditors. By this the risk of damages would be internalised more than today by all investors that provide capital: only the harm in excess of the company's whole capital could be externalised. In other words, not just the stockowners but also the providers of the enterprise's debt capital would shoulder the risk to the amount of their investments.

On the other hand, there are several academics who disagree with the proposed elevation of tort claims. They suggest that without priority secured lending would not exist because the mere entry of judgements would virtually extinguish their interests. 74 Considered from the opposite view, however it can be claimed that tort creditors are better off with the current regime of secured lending: without the value furnished by the secured creditor the debtor would not be able to own the property in the first place. 75

A somewhat milder version of superpriority has been offered in the literature: involuntary creditors should be allowed to have priority over not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> For economic analysis of law, the secured debt represents an unresolved puzzle. Already in late 1970s *Thomas H. Jackson* and *Anthony T. Kronman* raised the question: Why does the law allow a debtor prefer some creditors over others by securing their claims, instead of requiring equal footing to all creditors by a rule of sharing ratably in the debtors estate? (Jackson – Kronman 1979, p. 1146). Both Adler 1998 and Bowers 2000 review debates of this puzzle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Roe 2000, p. 217.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> See *e.g.* Clark 1976, p. 551, fn. 123; Leebron 1991, p. 1643–1649; and LoPucki 1994, p. 1907–1916.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> See *e.g.* Kripke 1985, p. 941–946.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> This summary draws on LoPucki 1996, p. 11.

secured creditors but unsecured voluntary creditors. This alternative does not alter the bargain of secured creditors but it comes with a price tag: besides introducing difficulty of determining which creditors are voluntary the coverage for tort victims would less than with strict superpriority. Another alternative is to reserve a part of secured debtor's collateral for unsecured tort victims. The Still another one is to allow only a partial priority of secured creditors. When these options are considered, however, one needs to take into account the efficiency of secured debt: the higher the cost of financing the lesser funds are available for distribution to all creditors of the particular company.

Surprisingly, the law and economics scholars seem to have missed another but quite obvious alternative:<sup>79</sup> In a case where a company is unable to cover the amount of tort judgement, the current holders of ordinary shares could be replaced by tort claimants. Then existing shares are nullified and new shares issued to accident victims, actually to a public governmental authority that holds them in a trust for the benefit of tort creditors. This would also mean that the bankruptcy is not an allowed option.

In due time the public authority would arrange an auction or otherwise resell the shares back to market and the collected monies would be allocated to tort victims. These funds would amount (almost) to the market value of the company's share capital and not just residual of the assets that are to be shared with other unsecured creditors. Considering the market value of major listed companies in Finland and elsewhere, it is likely that the collected amount of funds would be considerable. However, it remains as an empirical question whether this alternative is more effective in recovering than the pro rata -rule.<sup>80</sup>

The proposed arrangement is not a novelty. It resembles the solution tested in the Norwegian banking crisis.<sup>81</sup> In late 1980s the state of Norway took the control of several banks that were about to collapse. The existing shares were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Schwarcz 1997, p. 427, fn. 3, referring to a proposal made by professor *Elizabeth Warren* in 1996.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Bebchuck – Fried 1997, p. 1328. See also Bebchuck – Fried 1996.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> See Mokal (2002) for a demonstration that secured credit, by inducing creditors to lend when they would not do so without being offered priority, is mutually advantageous for all kinds of creditor, even the unsecured ones.

 $<sup>^{79}</sup>$  This alternative is not mentioned in the bibliographical surveys of limited liability debate by e.g. Carney 2000, Halpern 1998 and Kraakman 1998.

See section 1.1.2 ( $in\ fine$ ) above. Moreover, this proposal has similar flavour of fairness as the pro rata –rule because tort victims replace the owners of the company that has caused the accident.

For a general description of the crisis, see e.g. Ongena et al. 2000, p. 4–9.

nullified by writing down the value of equity capital to zero and the state emerged as the sole owner of new equity capital. Some of these new shares were later sold to the market participants.<sup>82</sup>

This alternative does not affect the price of debt financing; the efficiency of secured credit would be preserved because the position of it is left intact. Moreover, the transformation of tort creditors to beneficial owners of equity capital would in principle be without an impact on the value of shares because the transaction affects only the ownership of the company but not the cash flows between it and outsiders.

To be sure, the prospect of possible major tort claim may depress the share price because the current owners try to rush and sell their stocks before they are nullified. But when the authority later resells the new shares back to the market, their valuation would derive from the business prospects and assets of the company.

#### 5. SUMMARY

Investors may easily divide their holdings between several listed companies. By diversifying the portfolio funds most of the specific risk deriving from each company in the portfolio is eliminated; however, the market risk is always to be shouldered if an investor participates in the stock market. But this is the burden that an investor takes on to carry knowingly.

Tort victims do not enjoy similar luxury of choices regarding risk-control as investors. They cannot *ex ante*, before the accident materialises, decide the maximum loss they are ready to carry. To be sure, a potential victim may take out an insurance. But it cannot be known with certainty whether the insurance will cover that particular accident which she is to encounter later; the policy may well exclude that particular type of accident *e.g.* as a *force majeure*. Moreover, the insurance policy has an upper cap in almost every case: a provision sets the maximum that can be paid out to the victim. Liability in excess of this threshold is not covered by the insurance.

Shareholders are efficient risk-bearers. Therefore, one is tempted to conclude that they are better suited to bear the costs of accident than tort victims. Within this framework American legal scholars *Henry Hansmann* and *Reinier Kraakman* have proposed in early 1990s that each shareholder of a listed company should have a secondarily liability to bear the tort judgements of the firm on a pro rata basis.

<sup>82</sup> Mayes – Halme – Liuksila 2001, p. 38–39.

In this article, however, I have pointed out to the crucial condition for risk-bearing based on diversifying the stock portfolio: the maximum liability in each company has to be known *ex ante*. This compels the authority to state explicitly the upper limit for liability. The current system where the excess liability is set at zero is also a choice made by the legislator. No matter the actual choice, a system where each and every shareholder takes on a pro rata liability for assessment when she purchases her shares is viable as long as the maximum liability is specified *ex ante*.

There exists, however, an alternative to extended liability to stockholders. If the legislator or regulator does not want to choose the numerator for liability, an option is to nullify the current share capital of a company unable to meet the mass tort claim and grant the same amount of new equity in favour of the accident victims. These shares in turn can be resold at the stock market and the proceedings allocated to the victims.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- ADLER, Barry E. (1998). Secured Credit Contracts. In: NEWMAN, Peter (Ed.) *The New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics and the Law, Vol. 3 (P–Z)*. Great Britain. ISBN 0333-67667-X.
- AICKIN, Malcolm (1986). Legal and Cover Restrictions. *The Geneva Papers on Risk and Insurance*. Pgs. 157–167.
- ALLSOPP, Vicky (1995). *Understanding Economics*. Great Britain. ISBN 0-415-09132-2.
- ARROW, Kenneth J. (1965). Insurance, Risk, and Resource Allocation. In: ARROW, Kenneth J., *Aspects of The Theory of Risk Bearing*. Helsinki.
- ARSHADI, Nasser KARELS, Gordon V. (1997). *Modern Financial Intermediaries and Markets*. USA. ISBN 0-13-277410-0.
- ASHENFELTER, Orley LEVINE, Philip B. ZIMMERMAN, David J. (2003). *Statistics and Econometrics: Methods and Applications*. USA. ISBN 0-471-10787-5.
- BEBCHUCK, Lucien Arye FRIED, Jesse M. (1996). The Uneasy Case for the Priority of Secured Claims in Bankruptcy. *Yale Law Journal*. Pgs. 857–934.
- BEBCHUCK, Lucien Arye FRIED, Jesse M. (1997). The Uneasy Case for the Priority of Secured Claims in Bankruptcy: Further Thoughts and Reply to Critics. *Cornell Law Review*. Pgs. 1279–1348.
- BERLINER, Baruch (1982). *Limits of Insurability of Risks*. USA. ISBN 0-13-536789-1.

- BOVERS, James W. (2000). Security Interests, Creditors' Priorities and Bankruptcy. In: BOUCKAERT, Boudewijn De GEEST, Gerrit (Eds.). *Encyclopedia of Law and Economics, Volume II Civil Law and Economics*. Great Britain. ISBN 1-85898-985-X.
- BRATTON, William W. McCAHERY, Joseph A. (1997). An Inquiry into the Efficiency of the Limited Liability Company: Of Theory of Firm and Regulatory Competition. *Washington & Lee Law Review*. Pgs. 629–686.
- BREALEY, Richard A. MYERS, Stewart C. (2000). *Principles of Corporate Finance* (6<sup>th</sup> Ed.). United Kingdom. ISBN 0-07-290999-4.
- BRIYS, Eric de VARANNE, Francois (2000). 1.000 Years of Risk Management. *Risk* (January). Pgs. 47–48.
- BROOKS, Richard R. (2002). Liability and Organizational Choice. *Journal of Law and Economics*. Pgs. 91–125.
- CARNEY, William J. (2000). Limited Liability. In: BOUCKAERT, Boudewijn De GEEST, Gerrit (Eds.). *Encyclopedia of Law and Economics, Volume III The Regulation of Contracts*. Great Britain. ISBN 1-85898-986-6.
- CLARK, Robert C. (1976). The Duties of the Corporate Debtor to Its Creditors. *Harvard Law Review*. Pgs. 505–562.
- CULP, Christopher L. (2002). The Art of Risk Management Alternative Risk Transfer, Capital Structure, and the Convergence of Insurance and Capital Markets. USA. ISBN 0-471-12495-8.
- DAMODARAN, Aswath (2001). *Corporate Finance Theory and Practice (Second Ed.)*. USA. ISBN 0-471-28332-0.
- DEMBO, Ron S. FREEMAN, Andrew (1998). *The Rules of Risk*. USA. ISBN 0-471-24736-7.
- EASTERBROOK, Frank H. FISCHEL, Daniel R. (1991). *The Economic Structure of Corporate Law.* USA. ISBN 0-674-23538-X.
- EVANS, Andrew (2000). *Liability, Risk and the Law*. London. ISBN 1-85609-190-2.
- ESTY, Benjamin (1998). The Impact of Contingent Liability on Commercial Bank Risk Taking. *Journal of Financial Economics*. Pgs. 189–218.
- FABOZZI, Frank J. GUPTA, Francis MARKOWITZ, Harry M. (2002). The Legacy of Modern Portfolio Theory. *Institutional Investor*, Fall. Pgs. 7–22.
- FAURE, Michael G. (1995). The Limits to Insurability from a Law and Economics Perspective. *The Geneve Papers on Risk and Insurance*. Pgs. 454–462.
- FRANKE, Günther (1996). Shareholders as Insurers of the Firm. *Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics*, s. 113–122.
- GASTEL, Ruth (1995). The Lloyd's of London Marketplace. In: GASTEL, Ruth (Ed.), *Reinsurance: Fundamentals and New Challenges* (3<sup>rd</sup> Ed.) USA. ISBN 0-932387-43-8.

- GILSON, Ronald J. BLACK, Bernard S. (1995). *The Law and Finance of Corporate Acquisitions* (2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.). USA. ISBN 1-56662-067-8.
- GREENWALD, B. STIGLITZ, J.E. (1992). Information, Finance, and Markets. *Industrial and Corporate Change*. Pgs. 37–63.
- GROSSMAN, Peter Z. (1995). The Market for Shares of Companies with Unlimited Liability: The Case of American Express. *Journal of Legal Studies*. Pgs. 63–85.
- HALPERN, Paul (1998). Limited and Extended Liability Regimes. In: NEW-MAN, Peter (Ed.) *The New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics and the Law, Vol. 2 (E O)*. Great Britain. ISBN 0333-67667-X.
- HAMILTON, Robert W. (1997). Limited Liability in Historical Perspective. *Washington & Lee Law Review*. Pgs. 615–627.
- HANSMANN, Henry KRAAKMAN, Reinier (1991). Toward Unlimited Liability for Corporate Torts. *Yale Law Journal*. Pgs. 1879–1934.
- HARRINGTON, Scott E. DANZON, Patricia M. (2000). The Economics of Liability Insurance. In: DIONNE, Georges (Ed.), *Handbook of Insurance*. USA. ISBN 0-7923-7870-9.
- HILL, Claire A. (2002). Is Secured Debt Efficient? *University of Texas Law Review*. Pgs. 1117–1177.
- HUBERMAN, Gur MAYERS, David SMITH, Clifford W. Jr. (1983). Optimal Insurance Policy Indemnity Schedules. *Bell Journal of Economics*. Pgs. 415–426.
- JACKSON, Howell E. (1993). Losses from National Bank Failures During the Great Depression: a Response to Professors Macey and Miller. *Wake Forest Law Review*. Pgs. 919–932.
- JACKSON, Thomas H. KRONMAN, Anthony T. (1979). Secured Financing and Priorities Among Creditors. *Yale Law Journal*. Pgs. 1143–1182.
- JEFFERYS, J.B. (1946). The Denomination and Character of Shares, 1855–1885. In: CARUS-WILSON (Ed., 1954), *Essays in Economic History*. Vol. 1. London.
- KILPI, Jukka (1998). *The Ethics of Bankruptcy*. Great Britain. ISBN 0-415-17174-1.
- KLEIN, William A. COFFEE, John C. Jr. (1996). *Business Organization and Finance Legal and Economic Principles* (6<sup>th</sup> Ed.). USA. ISBN 1-56662-329-4.
- KOHN, Meir (1999). *The Capital Market Before 1600*. (Dartmouth College, Department of Economics, Working Paper 99–06.). USA.
- KRAAKMAN, Reinier (1998). Unlimited Shareholder Liability. In: NEW-MAN, Peter (Ed.) *The New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics and the Law, Vol. 3 (P Z)*. Great Britain. ISBN 0333-67667-X.

- KRIPKE, Homer (1985). Law and Economics: Measuring the Economic Efficiency of Commercial Law in a Vacuum of Fact. *University of Pennsylvania Law Review*. Pgs. 929.
- LEEBRON, David W. (1991). Limited Liability, Tort Victims, and Creditors. *Columbia Law Review*. Pgs. 1565–1650.
- LoPUCKI, Lynn M. (1994). The Unsecured Creditor's Bargain. *Virginia Law Review*. Pgs. 1887–1865.
- LoPUCKI, Lynn M. (1996). The Death of Liability. *Yale Law Journal*. Pgs. 1–92.
- LoPUCKI, Lynn M. (1998). Virtual Judgment Proofing: A Rejoinder. *Yale Law Journal*. Pgs.1413–1434.
- LoPUCKI, Lynn M. (1998a). The Essential Structure of Judgment Proofing. *Stanford Law Review*. Pgs. 147–160.
- LoPUCKI, Lynn M. (1999). The Irrefutable Logic of Judgment Proofing: A Reply to Professor Schwarcz. *Stanford Law Review*. Pgs. 55–71.
- MACEY, Jonathan R. MILLER, Geoffrey P. (1992). Double Liability of Bank Shareholders: History and Implications. *Wake Forest Law Review*. Pgs. 31–62.
- MACEY, Jonathan R. MILLER, Geoffrey P. (1993). Double Liability of Bank Shareholders: A Look at New Data. *Wake Forest Law Review*. Pgs. 933–941.
- MACKAAY, Eljan (1982). *Economics of Information and Law*. USA. ISBN 0-89838-100-2.
- MARKOWITZ, Harry (1952). Portfolio Selection. *Journal of Finance*. Pgs. 77–91.
- MASON, Scott P. (1995). The Allocation of Risk. In: CRANE, Dwight B. (et al.), *The Global Financial System A Functional Perspective*. USA. ISBN 0-87584-622-X.
- MAYES, David G. HALME, Liisa LIUKSILA, Aarno (2001). *Improving Banking Supervision*. Great Britain. ISBN 0-333-94896-3.
- MENDELSON, Nina A. (2002). A Control-Based Approach to Shareholder Liability for Corporate Torts. *Columbia Law Review*. Pgs. 1203–1303.
- MITCHELL, Lawrence E. (2001). *Corporate Irresponsibility*. USA. ISBN 0-3000-090223-4.
- MOKAL, Riz (2002). The Search for Someone to Save: A Defensive Case for the Priority of Secured Credit (Manuscript, Forthcoming in: Oxford Journal of Legal Studies, Vol. 22, Issue 4 (December 2002)). England.
- MOONEY, Charles W. Jr. (1999). Judgement Proofing, Bankruptcy Policy, and the Dark Side of Tort Liability. *Stanford Law Review*. Pgs. 73–76.
- ONGENA, Steven SMITH, David C. MICHALSEN, Dag (2000). Firms

- and Their Distressed Banks: Lessons from the Norwegian Banking Crisis 1988–1991 (Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, International Finance Discussion Papers, No. 686). USA.
- PETTET, Ben (1995). Limited Liability A Principle for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century? In: FREEMAN, M.D.A. HALSON, R. (Eds.). *Current Legal Problems Part 2: Collected Papers*. Oxford.
- POSNER, Richard A. (1976). The Rights of Creditors of Affiliated Corporations. *The University of Chicago Law Review*. Pgs. 499–526.
- RIBSTEIN, Larry E. KOBAYASHI, Bruce H. (1998). Partnership. In: NEW-MAN, Peter (Ed.) *The New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics and the Law, Vol. 2 (E O)*. United Kingdom. ISBN 0333-67667-X.
- RINGLEB, Al H. WIGGINS, Steven N. (1990). Liability and Large-Scale, Long-Term Hazards. *Journal of Political Economy*. Pgs. 574–595.
- ROE, Mark A. (2000). *Corporate Reorganization and Bankruptcy*. USA. ISBN 1-56662-966-7.
- ROSS, Sheldon M. (1999). An Introduction to Mathematical Finance Options and Other Topics. USA. ISBN 0-521-77043-2.
- ROY, A.D. (1952). Safety First and the Holding of Assets. In: ARCHER, Stephen H. D'AMBROSIO, Charles A. (Eds.; 1976), *The Theory of Business Finance A Book of Readings*. USA. ISBN 0-02-303820-9.
- SHAVELL, Steven (1986). The Judgement Proof Problem. *International Review of Law and Economics*. Pgs. 45–58.
- SHAVELL, Steven (2000). On the Social Function and the Regulation on Liability Insurance. (Harvard Law School, Law and Economics Discussion Paper No. 278.) USA.
- SMITH, Michael L. KANE, Stephen A. (1994). The Law of Large Numbers and the Strength of Insurance. In: GUSTAVSON, Sandra G. HARRING-TON, Scott E. (Eds.), *Insurance, Risk Management, and Public Policy Essays in Memory of Robert I. Mehr.* USA.
- SCHWARCZ, Steven L. (1997). The Easy Case for the Priority of Secured Claims in Bankruptcy. *Duke Law Journal*. Pgs. 425–489.
- SCHWARCZ, Steven L. (1999). The Inherent Irrationality of Judgment Proofing. *Stanford Law Review*. Pgs. 1–53.
- SCHWARCZ, Steven L. (1999a). Judgment Proofing: A Rejoinder. *Stanford Law Review*. Pgs. 77–85.
- SKOGH, Göran (1991). *Vad skiljer försäkring från annan finansiell verksamhet?* (SNS Occasional Paper, Nr. 32). Sverige.
- STATMAN, M. (1987). How Many Stocks Make a Diversified Portfolio? *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*. Pgs. 353–364.
- STIGLITZ, Joseph E. (1994). Whither Socialism. USA. ISBN 0-262-9182-5.

- SUVAS, Arto (1994). Importance of the Risky Debt and Limited Liability Assumptions: A Note. In: SUVAS, Arto, *Essays on Valuation of the Firm*. Vaasa. ISBN 951-683-523-6.
- TURNER, John D. (2001). *The Trading of Unlimited Liability Shares: The Bagehot Problem* (Draft prepared for the Canadian Law and Economics Association conference, 4<sup>th</sup> September 2001).
- VISCUSI, W.K. (1990). The Performance of Liability Insurance in States with Different Products-Liability Statutes. *Journal of Legal Studies*. Pgs. 809–836.
- WATSHAM, Terry J. PARRAMORE, Keith (1997). *Quantitative Methods in Finance*. Great Britain. ISBN 0-412-60820-0.
- WEINSTEIN, Mark I. (2001). Share Price Changes and the Arrival of Limited Liability in California (Preliminary Study, Dated September 24, 2001). USA.
- WESTON, Fred J. COPELAND, Thomas E. (1992). *Managerial Finance* (9<sup>th</sup> Ed.). USA. ISBN 0-03-055883-2.
- WHITE, James J. (1998). Corporate Judgement Proofing: A Response to Lynn LoPucki's The Death of Liability. *Yale Law Journal*. Pgs. 1363–1412.
- WILSON, Barry KANE, Edward (1996). *The Demise of Double Liability as an Optimal Contract for Large-Bank Shareholders* (National Bureau of Economic Research NBER, Working Paper 5848). USA.
- WINTER, Ralph A. (2000). Optimal Insurance under Moral Hazard. In: DIONNE, Georges (Ed.), *Handbook of Insurance*. USA. ISBN 0-7923-7870-9.
- WYLIE, Veronica (1999). *Challenging the Corporate Law Tradition: A Socialist Feminist Critique* (Manuscript, December 1999).
- YAN, Yuxing (1999). *Double Liability, Moral Hazard and Deposit Insurance Schemes* (Manuscript, August 20, 1999). USA.